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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

  
  

THE COWTOWN FOUNDATION INC.,               )      
ANDREW DOUGLAS, ESTATE OF                 )                           
ED DOUGLAS AND ODELL DOUGLAS           )      
                                                                             ) 
                                                                             )                                 
          Plaintiffs,                                                 )                     
                                                                             )         Case No. 1:22-cv-01258 
v.                                                                          )                                      
                                                                             )                 
THE SECRETARY OF AGRICULTURE,          )      
THOMAS VILSACK, AMERICAN BANKERS    )      
ASSOCIATION, THE INDEPENDENT              ) 
COMMUNITY BANKERS OF AMERICA, AND )         
NATIONAL RURAL LENDERS ASSOCIATION ) 
                                                                             ) 
           Defendants.                                              )  
 
 

MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF PARTIAL SUMMARY 
JUDGMENT PURSUANT FRCP 56 

     Come now Plaintiffs the Cowtown Foundation Inc., Andrew Douglas and the Estate of Ed 

Douglas and Odell Douglas through counsel, and pursuant to Rule 56 of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure, respectfully move for the Court to enter an order granting a partial summary judgment 

as there are no genuine issues of material fact precluding judgment as a matter of law.   

Legal Standard 

     Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56(c) "mandates the entry of summary judgment, after 

adequate time for discovery and upon motion, against a party who fails to make a showing 

sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case, and on which that 

party will bear the burden of proof at trial." Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322-23, 106 
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S.Ct. 2548, 91 L.Ed.2d 265 (1986); see FED, R. CIV. P. 56(c).Potter v. District of Columbia, 558 

F.3d 542, 547 (D.C. Cir. 2009) 
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1. The US Department of Agriculture is running a dual administrative process by denying due 

process to Black farmers based on race.  Equal Protection must be adhered to by the federal 

government. Bolling v. Sharpe, 347 U.S. 497 (1954) was part of a group of landmark cases 

that forged a path for de-segregation. The decision in Bolling v. Sharpe was distinct from 

Brown v. Board of Education because it used the Due Process Clause of the Fifth 

Amendment instead of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. In doing 

so, the Supreme Court created "reverse incorporation." Incorporation is the legal doctrine 

that makes the first ten amendments applicable to the states using the Fourteenth 

Amendment. In Bolling v. Sharpe, the Supreme Court reverse engineered it. The Court 

made the Fourteenth Amendment applicable to the federal government using one of the 

first ten amendments. 

2. Defendants Tom Vilsack and the Department of Agriculture have created a segregated 

administrative justice system that overwhelmingly denies Black farmers the right to 

challenge administrative offsets and alleged debts for Pigford Class members before the 

Administrative Law Judge pursuant section 741 of 15 U.S.C. 1691 (ECOA). (SUF, 25 and 

27). 

3. Defendants Tom Vilsack and the Department of Agriculture have overwhelmingly denied 

Black farmers the right to a final agency decision within the 180-day period pursuant to 

the Administrative Procedures Act.  (SUF, 45). 

4. Defendants Tom Vilsack and the Department of Agriculture foreclosed on Black farmers 

who prevailed as Pigford Class members after the Pigford Settlement Agreement. 

Additionally, most Pigford Class members have or had a pending discrimination 

complaints after May 22, 2008, who were afforded moratorium relief under the Food 

Energy and Conservation Act and 7 U.S.C. 1981(a). 

District of Columbia Human Rights Law of 1977 § 2-1402.21. 
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5. The right to own real estate is an essential asset and liberty.  The Human Rights Law 

recognized this and created protections to ensure one’s lawful ownership of land. However, 

the federal government’s duty under commerce as it relates to property under the Human 

Rights Law spans beyond the District of Columbia.  In Louis MONTEILH v. AFSCME, 

AFL-CIO, 06-CV-1155, the District of Columbia Court of Appeals, held “We base our 

decision on the premise stated by the trial court-that the employer has made a 

discriminatory decision in the District of Columbia, although the effects have been felt 

elsewhere. It would not be enough to establish subject matter jurisdiction under the 

DCHRA simply to show that the company is headquartered here or has offices here. Either 

the decision must be made, or its effects must be felt, or both must have occurred, in the 

District of Columbia.”  

6. Defendants the American Bankers Association, the Independent Community Bankers of 

America and the National Rural Lenders Association did violate section “(1) To interrupt 

or terminate, or refuse or fail to initiate or conduct any transaction in real property; or to 

require different terms for such transaction; or to represent falsely that an interest in real 

property is not available for transaction;” by making the decision to interfere with Secretary 

Tom Vilsack’s duty to implement sections 1005 and 1006 of the ARPA the letter to 

interrupt the debt relief process was received in the District of Columbia from the American 

Bankers Association, the Independent Community Bankers of America and the National 

Rural Lenders Association. (SUF 1-5,41) 

7. Defendants the American Bankers Association, the Independent Community Bankers of 

America and the National Rural Lenders Association did violate section (6) To 

discriminate in any financial transaction involving real property, on account of the location 

of residence or business (i.e. to “red-line”); or,” by stating to Co-Defendant Tom Vilsack 

it’s member institutions would lose profits if the agency paid off the guaranteed loans of 

Black farmers and other underserved farmers pursuant sections 1005 and 1006 of the 

ARPA. 
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8. Defendants the American Bankers Association, the Independent Community Bankers of 

America and the National Rural Lenders Association did violate section “(5) To make, 

print, or publish, or cause to be made, printed, or published any notice, statement, or 

advertisement, with respect to a transaction, or proposed transaction, in real property, or 

financing relating thereto, which notice, statement, or advertisement unlawfully indicates 

or attempts unlawfully to indicate any preference, limitation, or discrimination based on 

race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age, marital status, personal appearance, sexual 

orientation, gender identity or expression familial status, family responsibilities, disability, 

matriculation, political affiliation, source of income, or place of residence or business, of 

any individual;" by making a statement in a May, 2021 New York Times article stating it 

will deny future lending to Black farmers if the Secretary made the payments to Black 

farmers pursuant section 1005 and 1006 of the ARPA. 

9. Defendants Tom Vilsack and the Department of Agriculture did violate section “(3) To 

appraise a property, refuse to lend money, guarantee a loan, purchase a loan, accept 

residential real property as security for a loan, accept a deed of trust or mortgage, or 

otherwise refuse to make funds available for the purchase, acquisition, construction, 

alteration, rehabilitation, repair or maintenance of real property; or impose different 

conditions on such financing; or refuse to provide title or other insurance relating to the 

ownership or use of any interest in real property;” by failing to promulgate rules and 

regulations that do not allow Black farmers to contest any alleged debt by member 

institutions of the American Bankers Association, the Independent Community Bankers of 

America and the National Rural Lenders Association at the administrative level with the 

ALJ in the same manner as similarly situated White farmers. 

10. Defendant Tom Vilsack further violated section “(3) To appraise a property, refuse to lend 

money, guarantee a loan, purchase a loan, accept residential real property as security for a 

loan, accept a deed of trust or mortgage, or otherwise refuse to make funds available for 

the purchase, acquisition, construction, alteration, rehabilitation, repair or maintenance of 

real property; or impose different conditions on such financing; or refuse to provide title or 
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other insurance relating to the ownership or use of any interest in real property;”  by failing 

to cure any claims by the Co-Defendant “banking associations” member institutions 

pursuant to the authority given to him by Congress, without discretion of the Secretary, 

under 42 U.S.C. 1480(c)(d).  

11. Defendants the American Bankers Association, the Independent Community Bankers of 

America and the National Rural Lenders Association did violate § 2-1402.21 by interfering 

with an estimated 70,000 farm ownership and operating loans belonging to Black farmers 

who were Pigford Class Members and all Black farmers that lodged complaints at the 

Office for Civil Rights from the year 2000 to present.  

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray unto the Court that they have and recover from the 

Defendants as follows: 

a. To enjoin the Defendants from distributing any further funding from the Cares Act 

or the Commodity Credit Corporation until this Court can determine the amount of damages of 

SDFRs from the year 2000 in grants, loans, subsidies, and other federal assistance by the Dept. of 

Agriculture that were denied to SDFRs that would have been eligible for subsidies, grants, loans 

and other federal assistance to present date. 

b. To enjoin the Defendants from denying formal hearing on the merits before the ALJ 

by SDFRs on race base determinations of the administrative complaints. 

c. To declare the dual administrative judicial system illegal at the US Department of 

Agriculture and further order the resolution of all once accepted discrimination complaints to be 

reopened if the affected farmer was not notified of the closure of the claims and the race based 

closure of claims by the ASCR or the Office for Civil Rights to be resolved within 180; to include 

the right to sue; and right to judicial review, if they are not resolved in the favor of complainant. 
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d. To enjoin the Defendants from foreclosure and administrative offsets of all SDFRs 

with prior complaints lodged and the Office for Civil Rights since the year 2000 without 

notification to the complainant. 

e. To declare the foreclosures and administrative offsets of SDFRs with pending 

discrimination program complaints after May 22, 2008, as unconstitutional if unresolved or 

resolved without notification to affected farmers; affected farmers shall be afforded a formal 

hearing on the merits before the ALJ per agency rules and regulations for actual damages. 

f. To declare it unconstitutional for SDFRs not to have discovery, hearing (complete 

with discovery and the right to have witnesses) and if necessary, a judicial review of the decision. 

g. To declare it unconstitutional for the Secretary of Agriculture in his discretion to 

decide what affected farmer receives damages from section 1006 of the ARPA and that all affected 

farmers shall have these rights determined for specific acts through the ALJ and judicial review, 

if necessary. 

h. To declare it unconstitutional and a violation of the Civil Rights Act of 1871, later 

codified as 42 U.S.C. § 1985(1), “conspire to prevent, by force, intimidation, or threat, any person 

… holding any office, trust, or place of confidence under the United States … from discharging 

any duties thereof; or to induce by like means any officer of the United States to leave any … 

place[] where his duties as an officer are required to be performed, or … to molest, interrupt, 

hinder, or impede him in the discharge of his official duties.” To prevent Black farmers from 

receiving debt right off or the right to have past discriminatory acts settled under section 1006 of 

the ARPA. 

i. To declare it unconstitutional and tortious interference of business expectancy due 

to any violation of the KKK Act to “conspire to prevent, by force, intimidation, or threat, any 
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person … holding any office, trust, or place of confidence under the United States … from 

discharging any duties thereof; or to induce by like means any officer of the United States to leave 

any … place[] where his duties as an officer are required to be performed, or … to molest, interrupt, 

hinder, or impede him in the discharge of his official duties.” 

j. And for such other further and general relief as they may be entitled.  

 

Respectfully Submitted,  

                                                                      /s/ Jillian Hishaw______________  
 JILLIAN HISHAW  

     WY#001 
 Hishaw Law, LLC   
 109 E. 17th St., Suite 5166   
 Cheyenne, WY 82001   
 Tel: (307) 228-0407   
 jhishaw@hishawlaw.com  
 Counsel for Plaintiff  

 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on August 18, 2022, a true and exact copy of the forgoing pleading was filled 
electronically with the Clerk’s office and served upon the parties as indicated below through the Court’s 
ECF System: 

      Dedra S. Curteman 
      Assistant United States Attorney 
      U.S. Attorney’s Office, District of Columbia 
      601 D Street, NW, Washington, D.C. 20530 
      (202) 252-2550 (office) 
      (202) 809-0776 (cell) 
      dedra.curteman@usdoj.gov 
	
						Ari Karen   

                 MITCHELL SANDLER LLC   
                 1120 20th Street, NW   
                 Suite 725   
                 Washington, DC 20036   
                 202-886-5260   
                 Email: akaren@mitchellsandler.com  

Case 1:22-cv-01258-RC   Document 27   Filed 08/18/22   Page 8 of 10



9 

 
    Aziz Burgy   

                AXINN, VELTROP & HARKRIDER LLP   
                1901 L Street NW   
                Washington, DC 20036   
                202-721-5417   
                Email: aburgy@axinn.com  
 
                Thomas Rohback   
                AXINN, VELTROP & HARKRIDER LLP   
                90 State House Square   
                9th Floor   
                Hartford, CT 06103   
                860-275-8110   
                Email: trohback@axinn.com		
 

    Travis C Wheeler   
                NEXSEN PRUET, LLC   
                1230 Main St., Suite 700   
                Columbia, SC 29205   
                803-540-2117   
                Email: twheeler@nexsenpruet.com  
 

    Peter Santos   
                NEXSEN PRUET, LLC   
                227 West Trade Street   
                Suite 1550   
                Charlotte, NC 28202   
                704-338-5336   
                Email: psantos@nexsenpruet.com 

 
 
 
This the 18th day of August 2022. 
  

                                                                   
                                                                                       /s/ Jillian Hishaw______________  

 JILLIAN HISHAW  
     WY#001 

 Hishaw Law, LLC   
 109 E. 17th St., Suite 5166   
 Cheyenne, WY 82001   
 Tel: (307) 228-0407   
 jhishaw@hishawlaw.com  
 Counsel for Plaintiff  
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